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YOUNG MEN’S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION (YMCA) BUILDING, WEST 135" STREET BRANCH,
(now Jackie Robinson YMCA Youth Center), 181 West 135" Street, (aka 179-183 West 135" Street),
Manhattan, Built 1918-19; John Jackson, Architect.

Landmark Site Borough of Manhattan Tax Map Block 1920, Lot 7.

On July 15, 1991, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing on the proposed
designation as a Landmark of the Young Men’s Christian Association (YMCA) Building, West 135" Street Branch,
(now Jackie Robinson YMCA Youth Center). The hearing was duly advertised according to the provisions of law.
One person spoke in favor of designation at that hearing.

On November 12, 2015, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a special public hearing on the
Backlog Initiative Items in the Borough of Manhattan, including the Young Men’s Christian Association (YMCA),
Building, West 135" Street Branch (Item B-Borough of Manhattan B Group 2). The hearing was duly advertised
according to the provisions of law. At that hearing four people testified in favor of the proposed designation of the
Young Men’s Christian Association (YMCA) Building, West 135" Street Branch, including representatives of the
Historic Districts Council, the New York Landmarks Conservancy, The Municipal Art Society of New York, and
Explore New York. The Commission also received three letters in favor of designation.

Statements about support for the Young Men’s Christian Association (YMCA) Building, West 135" Street
Branch during the backlog process reflect specific testimony given or submitted during the hearing or while the
record was open. In addition, the Commission received numerous more general communications about the backlog
that were directed at all items on the backlog. These items were not specifically submitted while the record was
open. Due to the volume and variety of these more general emails they are not tallied for individual buildings.

Summary
Built in 1918-19, the 135" Street Young Men’s

Christian Association (YMCA) building was one of the
first African-American YMCA buildings constructed
in New York City and became the center of intellectual
and social life for African Americans in the first half of
the 20" century. Designed by John Jackson, a specialist
in YMCA buildings, the building followed design
guidelines that were developed and used to give
branches across the United States a uniform look. This
branch is typical of branches built at that time. It is
designed in the Italian-Renaissance Revival style, and
has a high base with alternating arched and rectangular
openings, surmounted by a cornice bearing the
inscription “Young Men’s Christian Association.” It
has arched windows at the second story and the
expression of an arcade at the sixth story.
African-American YMCAs were the direct
result of the national organization’s policy of racial
segregation from its beginnings in the United States in
1851 until 1946. Though excluded from white
YMCAs, African Americans were encouraged to form separate branches, which became autonomous
community centers. The Great Migration and World War | fueled the need for the YMCASs in New York
and in other cities across the nation. In 1910, Julius Rosenwald, president of Sears & Roebuck, pledged




$25,000 to any city that raised $75,000 for a new YMCA building with high quality amenities for
African-American men. Thousands of African-American citizens in New York City and across the
country rose to the challenge and supported the YMCA'’s building fund drives with contributions from
25¢ to $1,500. With the success of local fundraising campaign, and donations from both the public and
private sectors, this branch opened in November 1919. By the mid-1920s, the 135" Street YMCA became
a center of the Harlem Renaissance, where the African American literati met to exchange ideas, lectures
were given, plays and music performed. Among the noteworthy individuals associated with the 135"
Street YMCA were James Weldon Johnson, Alain Locke, Paul Robeson, John Henrik Clarke, Claude
McKay, Langston Hughes, Richard Wright, and Ralph Ellison. In 1938, this building became the home of
the Boys Department of the Harlem YMCA. In 1947, it was here that Jackie Robinson and his teammate
Roy Campenella began coaching and mentoring the children of the 135" Street YMCA, an association
that would last the rest of Robinson’s life. The building was dedicated to him and renamed the Jackie
Robinson YMCA Youth Center in 1976.

BUILDING DESCRIPTION

The Jackie Robinson YMCA Youth Center is a six-story ltalian Renaissance Revival style
building with a 75-foot wide brick and stucco facade on the north side of 135" Street between Lenox and
Seventh Avenues.

West 135" Street (south) facade

Historic Features: Six-story, seven-bay, brick and stucco fagade with terra-cotta and stone trim; tripartite
facade configuration divided by terra-cotta cornices; slightly projecting center section framed by brick
pilasters from second floor to roofline, with recessed outer bays.

Base: High base with alternating arched and rectangular openings with brick surrounds, surmounted by a
frieze bearing the inscription “Young Men’s Christian Association”; main entrance in second bay from
east; cornerstone between main entrance and secondary entrance at east end of facade; recessed stone
tablets above two service entrances at the eastern and western ends of first floor facade, west tablet
inscribed “Boys”; three multi-pane, double-leaf casement windows with transoms at center of facade.
Midsection: wall stuccoed between decorative brick elements; arched windows with decorative brick
surrounds in center bays at the second story; most windows retain original metal sash including narrow
muntins that divided windows into three-over-three lights; decorative terra cotta sill course across central
bays at third floor; window openings have brick lintels and stone sills; decorative terra-cotta cornice caps
the fifth story.

Crown: sixth story faced with stucco and decorative brick elements; center bays articulated by brick
pilasters, recessed blind arches, rectangular window openings set off by brick surrounds with stone
window sills; recessed brick panels beneath windows; terra-cotta entablature enriched with dentils,
recessed panels, and modillions breaks forward over the center bays.

Alterations: Facade painted or lightly parged at upper floors; brick and concrete handicap access ramp
with cast-iron railings; first floor main and secondary entrances reconfigured and replaced with metal-
and-glass doors, transom replaced; rounded concrete stairs at eastern service entrance with cast-iron
railing; basement windows obscured by metal mesh guards and access ramp; third to sixth story windows
replaced; small louvered vents above third-and fourth-story windows; six non-historic light fixtures at
first floor; two flag poles at west end second story and one flag pole at center fifth story; several satellite
dishes and antenna at roofline.

Eastern and Western facades
Eastern facade: Partially visible angled roofline with bulkhead or chimney.
Alterations: Parged brick facade, television antenna at roofline.
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" Information taken from: Norman H. Finkelstein, Schools of Hope: How Julius Rosenwald Helped Change African
American Education (Pennsylvania: An Imprint of Highlights, 2014), Beginning with the challenge grants to build
YMCA'’s for African Americans in cities across America, in 1917, Rosenwald created the Rosenwald Foundation to
promote the well-being of mankind. Through his generosity, Rosenwald gave grants to assist in the building primary
schools for African-American children, by 1932 a total of 5357 new buildings stood in 883 counties throughout 15
Southern states, mostly schools and other facilities, workshops and teachers homes.” Over the course of his life the
Rosenwald Fund donated more than $70 million to public schools.

® Information taken from: Peter M. Ascoll, “Julius Rosenwald: Unconventional Philanthropist,” in A Force for
Change African American Art and the Julius Rosenwald Fund (Chicago: Northwestern University Press, 2009) 19-
25.

* Ibid., 66.

" Ibid., 82.

! Crisis (Dec. 1914); Ibid., 78.

12 Mjagkij, 117

3 Mjagkij, 115-120.

™ Ibid., 118.

15 Ibid., 126-127. None of the white YMCAs in the Southeast and Southwest however admitted African Americans.

18 Information taken from: Gilbert Osofsky, Harlem: The Making of a Ghetto (New York: Harper Torchbooks,
1971); Mjagkij; Julius J. Adams, "Fifty Years of Christian Service to American Youth," in Harlem Branch's 50
Years of Progress, 1901-1951, in the North American YMCA Century, 1851-1951 (New York: YMCA, [1951]);
YMCA of Greater New York, Archives.

7 Information taken from: YMCA, Committee on Colored Association, Report (Jan. 1871).

'8 The YMCASs were 23rd Street (1852/1887); Harlem (1868); East Side (1884); Institute (1885); Washington
Heights (1891); and West Side (1896). The special branches of the YMCA were Bowery, Railroad, Intercollegiate,
French, Army, Colored Men, Pennsylvania Railroad, and Merchant Seamen's. YMCA, Men of New York, Jan.1922.

19 Cited in Osofsky, 15.
% Ibid.

2L LPC, Mount Morris Park Historic District Extension (LP: 2751) (New York: City of New York 2015), prepared
by Theresa C. Noonan, 19.

22 Information taken from: James Weldon Johnson, Black Manhattan, (New York: Knopf, 1930).

23 St. Phillip’s sold the property on 25" Street ¢.1909 for $600,000 and with this money was able to buy the site of
the current church. LPC, St. Philip’s Protestant Episcopal Church (LP: 1846) (New York: City of New York 1993),
prepared by Charles Savage, 1: Gary D. Wintz and Paul Finkelman, Encyclopedia of the Harlem Renaissance, (New
York: Rutledge, 2004) 474.

2 Nos. 179-183 West 135th Street, was purchased for the site of the future building of the Colored Men’s Branch of
the YMCA on February 10, 1916. The Colored Men’s Branch was changed to the 135th Street Branch upon
dedication on November 11, 1919. “New Y. M. C. A. Branch,” Real Estate Record and Builders Guide, V. 97, No.
2500, February 12, 1916, 256; “ Colored Branch,” Sixty-sixth Annual Report of the City of New York YMCA 1920,
29.

% Information taken from:
http://ic.galegroup.com/ic/uhic/ReferenceDetailsPage/ReferenceDetailsWindow?query=&prodld=UHIC&displayGr
oupName=Reference&limiter=&disableHighlighting=false&displayGroups=&sortBy=&search_within_results=&ac
tion=2&catld=&activityType=&documentld=GALE%7CCX2831200390&source=Bookmark&u=mlin_s_martha&j
sid=f184a42bdf54d02db916f7f38033af6e.






FINDINGS AND DESIGNATION

On the basis of a careful consideration of the history, the architecture, and other features of this
building, the Landmarks Preservation Commission finds that the Young Men’s Christian Association
(YMCA) Building, West 135" Street Branch, (now Jackie Robinson YMCA Youth Center), has special
character and special historical and aesthetic interest and value as a part of the development, heritage, and
cultural characteristics of New York City.

The Commission further finds that, among its important qualities, that the 135th Street Young
Men’s Christian Association (YMCA), built in 1918-19, was one of the first African-American YMCA
buildings constructed in New York City and became the center of intellectual and social life for African
Americans in the first half of the 20th century; that it was designed by John Jackson, a specialist in
YMCA buildings, in the Italian Renaissance Revival style; that the building has a high base with
alternating arched and rectangular openings and is surmounted by a cornice bearing the inscription
“Young Men’s Christian Association”; and that the arched windows at the second story and an arcade at
the sixth story further enhance the design; that African-American YMCA’s were the direct result of the
national organization’s policy of racial segregation from its beginnings in the United States in 1851 until
1946; that though excluded from white YMCASs, African Americans were encouraged to form separate
branches, which became autonomous community centers; that the Great Migration and World War |
fueled the need for the YMCAS in New York and in other cities across the nation; that in 1910, Julius
Rosenwald, president of Sears & Roebuck, pledged $25,000 to any city that raised $75,000 for a new
YMCA building with high quality amenities for African-American men; that thousands of African-
American citizens in New York City and across the country rose to the challenge and supported the
YMCA'’s building fund drives with contributions from 25¢ to $1,500; that with the success of local
fundraising campaign, and donations from both the public and private sectors, it opened in November
1919; that by the mid-1920s, the 135th Street YMCA became a center of the Harlem Renaissance, where
the African American literati met to exchange ideas, lectures were given, plays and music performed; that
among the noteworthy individuals associated with the 135th Street YMCA were James Weldon Johnson,
Alain Locke, Paul Robeson, John Henrik Clarke, Claude McKay, Langston Hughes, Richard Wright, and
Ralph Ellison; that in 1938, this building became the home of the Boys Department of the Harlem
YMCA; that in 1947, it was here that Jackie Robinson and his teammate Roy Campenella began coaching
and mentoring the children at the 135th Street YMCA, an association that would last the rest of
Robinson’s life; and that the building was dedicated to him and renamed the Jackie Robinson YMCA
Youth Center in 1976.

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 74, Section 3020 of the Charter of the City of
New York and Chapter 3 of Title 25 of the Administrative Code of the City of New York, the Landmarks
Preservation Commission designates as a Landmark the 135th Street Young Men’s Christian Association
(YMCA) Building, West 135th Street Branch, (now Jackie Robinson YMCA Youth Center), Borough of
Manhattan, and designates Manhattan Tax Map Block 1920, Lot 7 as its Landmark Site.

Meenakshi Srinivasan, Chair

Adi Shamir Baron, Fred Bland, Diana Chapin, Michael Devonshire,
Michael Goldblum, John Gustafsson, Jeanne Lutfy, Kim Vauss, Commissioners
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Young Men’s Christian Association (YMCA) Building,
West 135th Street Branch, (now Jackie Robinson YMCA Y outh Center)
181 West 135th Street, (aka 179-183 West 135th Street)
Photo: Theresa C. Noonan
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Young Men’s Christian Association (YMCA) Building,
West 135th Street Branch, 1931
Source: Irma and Paul Milstein Division of United States History, Local History and Genealogy,
The New York Public Library Digital Collections (1931)
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Young Men’s Christian Association (YMCA) Building,
West 135th Street Branch, (now Jackie Robinson YMCA Youth Center)
Photo: Sarah Moses
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